
 
MEETING OF THE STATE BOARD OF ADMINISTRATION 

 
GOVERNOR SCOTT AS CHAIRMAN 

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER ATWATER  
ATTORNEY GENERAL BONDI  

 
AUGUST 5, 2015 

 

 
 

To View Agenda Items, Click on the Following Link: 
www.sbafla.com 

 
 

AGENDA  
 

 
ITEM 1. REQUEST APPROVAL OF THE JUNE 23, 2015 CABINET MEETING. 
 
  (See Attachment 1A) 
 
  ACTION REQUIRED 
 
 
ITEM 2. REQUEST APPROVAL OF FISCAL SUFFICIENCY OF AN AMOUNT 

NOT EXCEEDING $98,000,000 STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF 
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION FLORIDA FOREVER REVENUE 
REFUNDING BONDS, SERIES (TO BE DETERMINED). 

 
 (See Attachment 2A) 
 
 ACTION REQUIRED 
 
  
ITEM 3. REQUEST APPROVAL OF FISCAL SUFFICIENCY OF AN AMOUNT 

NOT EXCEEDING $65,000,000 STATE OF FLORIDA, STATE BOARD 
OF EDUCATION LOTTERY REVENUE REFUNDING BONDS, SERIES 
(TO BE DETERMINED). 

 
 (See Attachment 3A) 
 
 ACTION REQUIRED 
 
 

http://www.sbafla.com/fsb/Trustees,CouncilsCommittees/Trustees/2015TrusteeMeetingItems/tabid/1732/Default.aspx


Meeting of the State Board of Administration  
August 5, 2015 
Page 2 
 
 

ITEM 4. REQUEST APPROVAL OF A FISCAL DETERMINATION IN 
CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUANCE OF AN AMOUNT NOT 
EXCEEDING $9,500,000 FLORIDA HOUSING FINANCE 
CORPORATION MULTIFAMILY MORTGAGE REVENUE BONDS, 
(SERIES TO BE DESIGNATED) (BROOKSIDE SQUARE). 

 
  (See Attachment 4A) 
 
  ACTION REQUIRED 
 
 
ITEM 5. REQUEST APPROVAL OF A FISCAL DETERMINATION IN 

CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUANCE OF AN AMOUNT NOT 
EXCEEDING $4,400,000 FLORIDA HOUSING FINANCE 
CORPORATION MULTIFAMILY MORTGAGE REVENUE BONDS,  
(SERIES TO BE DESIGNATED) (STEVENS DUVAL APARTMENTS). 

 
  (See Attachment 5A) 
 
  ACTION REQUIRED 
 
 
ITEM 6. REQUEST APPROVAL TO FILE FOR NOTICE, AN AMENDMENT 

 WHICH WOULD REPEAL, AS UNNECESSARY,  19-7.010 FAC 
 (POOLED  INVESTMENT ACCOUNTS), AND FURTHER TO FILE 
 THE RULE  FOR  REPEAL IF NO MEMBER OF THE PUBLIC TIMELY 
 REQUESTS  A RULE HEARING RELATED TO THIS RULE. 

 
 In completing the Annual Review of Existing Rules for the Office of Fiscal 
 Accountability and Regulatory Reform (OFARR) this year, the SBA 
 determined that Rule 19-7.010 could be repealed as unnecessary.  This rule 
 merely indicates that the rules contained in Rule Chapter 19-7 have been 
 developed for the Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund.  That information 
 is self-evident from the various rules themselves.  There are no significant policy 
 issues or controversial issues connected to this rule repeal.  The proposed rule 
 repeal does not impose any burdens on businesses; does not restrict entry into a 
 profession; does not have an impact on the availability of services to the public; 
 does not have an impact on job retention; does not impose any restrictions on 
 employment seekers; and does not impose any costs.  No legislative ratification is 
 required.   

 Refer to Attachment 6A for the proposed deleted text. 

 (See Attachments 6A) 

 ACTION REQUIRED 

 



Meeting of the State Board of Administration  
August 5, 2015 
Page 3 
 
 

ITEM 7. REQUEST APPROVAL OF INCENTIVE COMPENSATION PLAN 
DOCUMENT FOR EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR & CIO. 

 
The SBA is requesting approval of the legal plan document that formally 
implements the incentive compensation plan for the Executive Director and CIO 
that was approved by the Trustees during the June 23, 2015 meeting. 

 
  (See Attachment 7A) 

  ACTION REQUIRED 



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

C & N REPORTERS TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 850-697-8314

STATE OF FLORIDA

IN RE: MEETING OF THE GOVERNOR AND
CABINET

_________________________________________/

CABINET MEMBERS: GOVERNOR RICK SCOTT
ATTORNEY GENERAL PAM BONDI
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
JEFF ATWATER

COMMISSIONER OF AGRICULTURE
ADAM PUTNAM

DATE: TUESDAY, JUNE 23, 2015

LOCATION: CABINET MEETING ROOM
LOWER LEVEL, THE CAPITOL
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

REPORTED BY: NANCY S. METZKE, RPR, FPR
COURT REPORTER

C & N REPORTERS
POST OFFICE BOX 3093

TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32315-3093
(850) 697-8314 / FAX (850) 697-8715

nancy@metzke.com
candnreporters.com



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

C & N REPORTERS TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 850-697-8314

2

INDEX

PAGE NO.

Discussion and Decision on
Recommended Settlement in
Weidner Litigation 5

Appointment of DEP Secretary and
FDLE Executive Director 12

Appointment - Agency for State
Technology Advisory Council 16

Discussion and Decision on
Recommended Settlement in
Weidner Litigation Continued 18

Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles
By Executive Director Rhodes 20

Florida Department of Law Enforcement
By Interim Commissioner Swearingen 28

Board of Trustees of the Internal
Improvement Trust Fund

By Secretary Steverson 73

Department of Revenue
By Executive Director Stranburg 80

Office of Financial Regulation
By Commissioner Breakspear 84

Office of Insurance Regulation
By Commissioner McCarty 88



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

C & N REPORTERS TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 850-697-8314

3

INDEX

PAGE NO.

Administration Commission
By Mark Kruse 94

State Board of Administration
By Executive Director Williams 95

* * * *



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

C & N REPORTERS TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 850-697-8314

4

P R O C E E D I N G S

GOVERNOR SCOTT: Good morning. Welcome to the

June 23rd Cabinet meeting. To begin our meeting,

I'd like to welcome Reverend Al Williams from the

Bethel Missionary Baptist Church.

Please remain standing for the Pledge of

Allegiance led by children from Bethel Missionary

Baptist Church.

(WHEREUPON, THE INVOCATION WAS GIVEN AND THE

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE SAID).

* * * *



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

C & N REPORTERS TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 850-697-8314

95

STATE BOARD OF ADMINISTRATION

GOVERNOR SCOTT: Now I'd like to recognize

Ash Williams with the State Board of

Administration.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR WILLIAMS: Good morning,

Governor, Trustees. Thank you.

By way of update, the Florida Retirement

System Trust Fund, as of last night's close, fiscal

year to date is up 5.62%. That's 133 basis points

above benchmark. The balance stands at

$151.4 billion. That's $2.3 billion ahead of where

we began the fiscal year net of distributions

approximating $600 million monthly.

Additionally, I wanted to provide an update on

our risk transfer initiative that you approved a

while back for the Hurricane Catastrophe Fund. We

have worked with our reinsurance broker,

Aon Benfield. We have essentially completed the

transaction for the risk transfer. We have reached

agreement with 30 different reinsurers, including a

couple of collateralized reinsurers.

All of the traditional reinsurers are rated

A. M. Best A or better. The collateralized

reinsurers have their coverage backed up by assets



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

C & N REPORTERS TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 850-697-8314

96

held in trust. We appreciate the help of the

Office of Insurance Regulation in doing background

on these various companies to ensure their

suitability.

We have a bit of good news. While we

certainly brought the agreement in bang on the cost

level that was authorized, we put provisions in the

contracts with the reinsurers so that if the

elections for the underlying primary insurers were

to change and, therefore, the risk exposure to the

reinsurers would change, the benefit of those

savings would accrue to us.

As of June 1, we have, in fact, seen over

25 companies change their election; and the net

benefit of that, if this continues to play out as

we believe it will, and we'll know with finality

circa September 1, will be to reduce the cost of

this risk transfer by over an additional

$5 million.

GOVERNOR SCOTT: That's great.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR WILLIAMS: Lastly, and

perhaps of greatest interest given the testimony of

the day that we brought this matter before you, we

have seen no evidence reported by any independent

source that would suggest that our presence in the



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

C & N REPORTERS TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 850-697-8314

97

market and our consumption of this capacity has in

any way impaired availability of reinsurance to any

other parties or in any way adversely impacted

their pricing. So we're very pleased with the

outcome and still hope the wind doesn't blow; but

if it does, we're better prepared than we otherwise

would be.

So with that, Item 1, request approval of

the minutes of the April 24 and May 5, 2015,

meetings.

GOVERNOR SCOTT: Is there a motion?

ATTORNEY GENERAL BONDI: So moved.

CFO ATWATER: Second.

GOVERNOR SCOTT: Moved and seconded, show the

minutes approved without objection.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR WILLIAMS: Thank you.

Item 2, request approval of a fiscal

determination of an amount not exceeding

$10 million Florida Housing Finance Corporation

multi-family mortgage revenue bonds. This is a

Pinellas County multi-family residential

acquisition and rehab project.

Request approval.

GOVERNOR SCOTT: Is there a motion on the

item?



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

C & N REPORTERS TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 850-697-8314

98

ATTORNEY GENERAL BONDI: So move.

GOVERNOR SCOTT: Is there a second?

CFO ATWATER: Second.

GOVERNOR SCOTT: Any comments or objections?

(NO RESPONSE).

GOVERNOR SCOTT: Hearing none, the motion

carries.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR WILLIAMS: Thank you.

Item 3 is another Florida Housing Finance

multi-family acquisition and rehab project. It's

an apartment project in Polk County.

Request approval of an amount not exceeding

$4.1 million Florida Housing Finance Corporation

multi-family mortgage revenue bonds.

GOVERNOR SCOTT: Is there a motion on the

item?

CFO ATWATER: So moved.

GOVERNOR SCOTT: Is there a second?

ATTORNEY GENERAL BONDI: Second.

GOVERNOR SCOTT: Any comments or objections?

(NO RESPONSE).

GOVERNOR SCOTT: Hearing none, the motion

carries.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR WILLIAMS: Thank you.

Item 4, another fiscal determination of an



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

C & N REPORTERS TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 850-697-8314

99

amount not exceeding three and a half million

dollars for the Florida Housing Finance

Corporation multi-family mortgage revenue bond

issuance for the Brookside Village Apartments.

This is a Lee County multi-family acquisition and

rehab project.

GOVERNOR SCOTT: Is there a motion on the

item?

ATTORNEY GENERAL BONDI: So move.

GOVERNOR SCOTT: Is there a second?

CFO ATWATER: Second.

GOVERNOR SCOTT: Any comments or objections?

(NO RESPONSE).

GOVERNOR SCOTT: Hearing none, the motion

carries.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR WILLIAMS: Thank you.

Item 5, request approval of the SBA quarterly

report required by the Protecting Florida's

Investments Act. Very little change in this

period.

With regard to Sudan, we had four companies

taken off the scrutinized list and one added to the

continued exam list. With regard to Iran, there

were no changes.

GOVERNOR SCOTT: Is there a motion on the



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

C & N REPORTERS TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 850-697-8314

100

item?

ATTORNEY GENERAL BONDI: So move.

GOVERNOR SCOTT: Is there a second?

CFO ATWATER: Second.

GOVERNOR SCOTT: Any comments or objections?

(NO RESPONSE).

GOVERNOR SCOTT: Hearing none, the motion

carries.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR WILLIAMS: Thank you.

Item 6, request approval of a draft letter to

the Joint Legislative Auditing Committee affirming

that the SBA Trustees have reviewed and approved

the monthly Florida Prime and Fund B management

summary reports and actions taken, if any, to

address any material impacts. There are no

material impacts.

GOVERNOR SCOTT: All right. Is there a motion

on the item?

ATTORNEY GENERAL BONDI: So move.

GOVERNOR SCOTT: Is there a second?

CFO ATWATER: Second.

GOVERNOR SCOTT: Any comments or objections?

(NO RESPONSE).

GOVERNOR SCOTT: Hearing none, the motion

carries.



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

C & N REPORTERS TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 850-697-8314

101

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR WILLIAMS: Thank you.

Item 7, request approval of a draft letter

to the Joint Legislative Auditing Committee for

the annual certification of legal compliance in

best investment practices for the Local Government

Surplus Funds Trust Fund now known as Florida Prime

as required under Florida Statutes.

At yesterday's annual joint meeting of the

Participant Local Government Advisory Council and

SBA's Investment Advisory Council, we heard

external reviews delivered on the legal side by

Lewis, Longman and Walker, legal and compliance

side; and on the investment best practices side by

Hewitt Ennis Knupp.

These were both received by the IAC and, per

the law, we come forward and request approval to

the letter of the Joint Legislative Auditing

Committee certifying that we've met this

obligation.

GOVERNOR SCOTT: Is there a motion on the

item?

CFO ATWATER: So moved.

GOVERNOR SCOTT: Is there a second?

ATTORNEY GENERAL BONDI: Second.

GOVERNOR SCOTT: Any comments or objections?



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

C & N REPORTERS TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 850-697-8314

102

(NO RESPONSE).

GOVERNOR SCOTT: Hearing none, the motion

carries.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR WILLIAMS: Thank you.

As a follow-on item, we're requested -- we are

required by law to annually reinstate the

Investment Policy Statement for the Local

Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund, again, now

branded as Florida Prime, as you know, consistent

with this review. There are no changes to the

Investment Policy Statement because none were

indicated necessary by the review.

Request adoption.

GOVERNOR SCOTT: Is there a motion on the

item?

ATTORNEY GENERAL BONDI: So move.

GOVERNOR SCOTT: Is there a second?

CFO ATWATER: Second.

GOVERNOR SCOTT: Any comments or objections?

(NO RESPONSE).

GOVERNOR SCOTT: Hearing none, the motion

carries.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR WILLIAMS: Thank you.

Item 9, request approval of the appointment of

a chair for the Florida Commission on Hurricane



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

C & N REPORTERS TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 850-697-8314

103

Loss Projection Methodology as required by Florida

Statutes. The candidate is Doctor Lorilee Medders,

and her bio is attached for reference.

ATTORNEY GENERAL BONDI: Strong candidate.

GOVERNOR SCOTT: Is there a motion on the

item?

ATTORNEY GENERAL BONDI: So move.

GOVERNOR SCOTT: Is there a second?

CFO ATWATER: Second.

GOVERNOR SCOTT: Any comments or objections?

(NO RESPONSE).

GOVERNOR SCOTT: Hearing none, the motion

carries.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR WILLIAMS: Thank you.

Item 10 is the result of several years work by

the IAC; SBA staff; your staff; and Mercer, our

outside compensation consultant. This is the

incentive compensation program update for the SBA

staff, including the Executive Director.

Essentially, the comp committee of the IAC

held a public meeting June 11th and made a

recommendation that was brought forward to the

full IAC in a public meeting yesterday. The IAC

adopted unanimously the recommendations of the comp

committee which, in turn, were adopted unanimously



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

C & N REPORTERS TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 850-697-8314

104

at that level.

And essentially we have brought forward to the

Trustees a recommendation for a reinstatement of

the SBA's incentive comp program that covers those

positions with greatest and most direct impact on

investment outcomes; aligns compensation and

performance at both the fund level and asset class

levels; conditions any award on the fund obtaining

a minimum level of financial performance relative

to established benchmarks and, further, on

accomplishing that performance within acceptable

risk parameters; defers half of any awards made

under this program by one year.

So a portion would be paid up front; the other

half would be paid a year out, conditioned on a

person still being employed and in good standing;

and further, would defer payment of any award when

the annual investment return in the period in which

that award came due were negative, until a period

when there had been two consecutive quarters of

positive fund performance.

And finally, is structured in a way that net

of the cost of any incentive payments under this

program, Florida would continue to be among the

very lowest costs, if not the lowest cost, large



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

C & N REPORTERS TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 850-697-8314

105

pension systems in North America.

So on that basis, what I'd like to do, if I

could, is have the Trustees approve this program.

I can go forward under my authority -- and we're

working with outside tax counsel now to complete a

plan document. Since you have a deferral element

here, there are tax issues related to this. There

has to be a plan document in place. I can go ahead

and execute that for our staff and the 61 people

other than me who would be involved in this

program.

And when we complete the work on that, I

will come back to you with the plan document that

would cover me individually, which would be the

same as everyone else's, and bring that forward

for approval. But on that basis, our intent is to

start the measurement period with the onset of the

fiscal year, July 1, 2015, concluding June 30,

2016.

Request approval.

GOVERNOR SCOTT: Okay. Is --

ATTORNEY GENERAL BONDI: Go ahead, Governor.

Do you have a question?

GOVERNOR SCOTT: First off, is there a motion

to approve?



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

C & N REPORTERS TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 850-697-8314

106

ATTORNEY GENERAL BONDI: Just a question: It

will be brought back to us before?

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR WILLIAMS: The plan

document for me would come back to you.

GOVERNOR SCOTT: Okay. But just -- what we're

voting on is we're approving the plan?

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR WILLIAMS: Correct.

GOVERNOR SCOTT: The overall plan, but the

exact plan document for you will come back?

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR WILLIAMS: Correct.

GOVERNOR SCOTT: Does that make sense?

ATTORNEY GENERAL BONDI: Absolutely. But

you'll handle all the incentives for staff,

correct?

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR WILLIAMS: Correct. Now

obviously, I can't do that for myself.

ATTORNEY GENERAL BONDI: If you're okay with

it, I am.

GOVERNOR SCOTT: Yeah, I'm fine.

All right. Is there a second?

CFO ATWATER: Second.

GOVERNOR SCOTT: So did you do the motion?

You did, right?

ATTORNEY GENERAL BONDI: I'll move.

GOVERNOR SCOTT: Okay. Any comments or



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

C & N REPORTERS TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 850-697-8314

107

objections?

(NO RESPONSE).

GOVERNOR SCOTT: Hearing none, the motion

carries.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR WILLIAMS: Thank you very

much.

Item 11 is our quarterly reports, and I

would offer up two things: First of all, we

have the usual thorough background, including

reports, from our compliance officers, General

Counsel, Inspector General, Chief Audit Executive,

et cetera, which collectively I would summarize as

saying we are in bounds on risk; we don't have any

compliance issues; we don't have any personal

behavior issues, all good news.

And we have here with us today from

Hewitt Ennis Knupp, Kristen Doyle, who can provide

a high level brief summary of major mandate

performance and offer context with peers,

et cetera, benchmarks, at your pleasure.

GOVERNOR SCOTT: All right. Good morning.

MS. DOYLE: Good morning. Good morning,

Trustees. It's great to be here again.

So as we typically do every quarter, I'm just

going to spend a few minutes going through



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

C & N REPORTERS TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 850-697-8314

108

performance, and this is performance for all of the

major mandates managed by the SBA through

March 31st.

So if we look at the pension plan, this is

performance relative to two benchmarks: The

performance benchmark, as well as the long-term

absolute return benchmark. And for all trailing

periods with one exception, there's been out

performance of both benchmarks.

The 15-year period, you'll see that the

total fund is just slightly below the absolute

return benchmark, but that is the benchmark that we

like to look at over longer periods of time. And

so here, looking at 20, 25, and 30 years,

significant out performance relative to that

benchmark.

Relative to peers, performance -- and this is

the top ten defined benefit plan universe, so these

are the largest defined benefit plans in the

country -- performance has been in line or just

slightly below the median fund, so -- but when I

say "below," I mean very, very slightly below the

median fund. So strong performance relative to

peers as well.

Any questions on the pension?



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

C & N REPORTERS TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 850-697-8314

109

(NO RESPONSE).

MS. DOYLE: Okay. For the investment plan,

this is the defined contribution plan, performance

has been strong as well, both on an absolute and a

relative basis. So relative to the aggregate

benchmark, out performance over all trailing

periods shown here. And this is an indication that

all of the underlying fund options are collectively

outperforming their underlying benchmarks over all

of these trailing time periods.

And we did do a deeper dive into the DC plan

at the Investment Advisory Council yesterday.

It talked about investment structure, fund

options, number of fund options, and that type

of thing. And this plan is really being managed

in terms of -- according to best practices in

those areas.

And then the Cat Fund -- so I've mentioned

this before, that because this is a short-term bond

fund, really with principal preservation and

liquidity as its main investment objectives, given

the low interest rate environment that we've been

in, the absolute returns are relatively low;

however, when we look at performance relative to

the performance benchmark, performance has been



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

C & N REPORTERS TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 850-697-8314

110

very strong.

And then the Lawton Chiles Endowment Fund,

continuing with the theme of strong out

performance. Relative to the performance

benchmark, this fund has also outperformed over all

trailing periods, mainly due to the active global

equity manager that manages the global equity

component of this fund.

And I don't have Florida Prime here, but we

did look at Florida Prime. Ash mentioned that we

did a deep dive at the IAC PLGAC meeting yesterday.

That performance has been strong over all trailing

time periods as well, relative to other local

government investment pools that are rated AAA or

AA by S & P.

So overall, very good news for all of the

major mandates.

GOVERNOR SCOTT: Great.

Any questions?

(NO RESPONSE).

GOVERNOR SCOTT: Thank you very much.

MS. DOYLE: Thanks.

GOVERNOR SCOTT: Thank you, Ash.

That concludes today's meeting.

Our next meeting will be August 5th at 9 a.m.



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

C & N REPORTERS TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 850-697-8314

111

in Tallahassee.

Thank you.

(WHEREUPON, THE MEETING WAS CONCLUDED).

* * * *



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

C & N REPORTERS TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 850-697-8314

112

CERTIFICATE

STATE OF FLORIDA )
COUNTY OF LEON )

I, NANCY S. METZKE, RPR, FPR, certify that I
was authorized to and did stenographically report the
foregoing proceedings and that the transcript is a true
and complete record of my stenographic notes.

DATED this 3rd day of July, 2015.

_________________________

NANCY S. METZKE, RPR, FPR
Court Reporter























































 

STATE BOARD OF ADMINISTRATION 

OF FLORIDA 
 

1801 HERMITAGE BOULEVARD-Suite 100 
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32308 

 (850) 488-4406 
 

POST OFFICE BOX 13300 
32317-3300 

 

RICK SCOTT 
GOVERNOR 

 
 JEFF ATWATER 

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 

PAM BONDI 
ATTORNEY GENERAL 

 
ASH WILLIAMS 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR & CIO 

MEMORANDUM 
 

To:  Ashbel C. Williams, Executive Director & CIO 
 
From:  Ruth A. Smith, Assistant General Counsel 
 
Subject: Agenda Item for the August 5, 2015 Cabinet Meeting: Proposed 
   Amendments to Rule 19-7.010, F.A.C 
 
   Request Approval to File the Rule for Notice and For Repeal if 

 No Member of the Public Timely Requests a Rule Hearing 
 
Date:  July 20, 2015 
 
ACTION REQUESTED:  
 
 

REQUEST APPROVAL TO FILE FOR NOTICE, AN AMENDMENT 
WHICH WOULD REPEAL, AS UNNECESSARY, RULE 19-7.010, FAC 
(POOLED INVESTMENT ACCOUNTS), AND FURTHER TO FILE THE 
RULE FOR REPEAL IF NO MEMBER OF THE PUBLIC TIMELY 
REQUESTS A RULE HEARING RELATED TO THIS RULE. 

 
In completing the Annual Review of Existing Rules for OFARR this year, the 

SBA determined that Rule 19-7.010 could be repealed as unnecessary.  This rule merely 
indicates that the rules contained in Rule Chapter 19-7 have been developed for the Local 
Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund.  That information is self-evident from the various 
rules themselves.  There are no significant policy issues or controversial issues connected 
to this rule repeal. The proposed rule repeal does not impose any burdens on businesses; 
does not restrict entry into a profession; does not have an impact on the availability of 
services to the public; does not have an impact on job retention; does not impose any 
restrictions on employment seekers; and does not impose any costs.  No legislative 
ratification is required. 
 

The proposed deleted text is attached.  
 



19-7.010 Pooled Investment Accounts. 
Rules 19-7.001 through 19-7.016, F.A.C., are developed for the Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund pursuant to Section 
218.409, F.S. 

Rulemaking Authority 218.405, 218.412 FS. Law Implemented Chapter 218, Part IV FS. History–New 8-24-82, Formerly 19-7.10, Amended 3-26-
02, 9-5-10. Repealed ___________, 2015.  

 



 
 
 

STATE BOARD OF ADMINISTRATION 
OF FLORIDA 

 
INCENTIVE COMPENSATION PLAN 

 
FOR THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR & CIO 

 
 

(EFFECTIVE AS OF JULY 1, 2015) 
 

 



 

 i. 

STATE BOARD OF ADMINISTRATION 
OF FLORIDA  

INCENTIVE COMPENSATION PLAN 
FOR THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR & CIO 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 

Article 1. Establishment, Objectives, and Effective Date ...................................................... 1 

Article 2. Definitions.............................................................................................................. 1 

Article 3. Administration ....................................................................................................... 4 

Article 4. Eligibility and Participation ................................................................................... 4 

Article 5. Incentive Opportunity ............................................................................................ 5 

Article 6. Determination and Payment of Incentive Awards ................................................. 6 

Article 7. Termination of Employment .................................................................................. 8 

Article 8. Rights of Employees .............................................................................................. 9 

Article 9. Amendment, Modification, and Termination ........................................................ 9 

Article 10. Legal Status ............................................................................................................ 9 

Article 11. Funding ................................................................................................................ 10 

Article 12. Withholding ......................................................................................................... 10 

Article 13. Successors ............................................................................................................ 10 

Article 14. Legal Construction ............................................................................................... 10 



 

 
 

STATE BOARD OF ADMINISTRATION 
OF FLORIDA 

INCENTIVE COMPENSATION PLAN FOR THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR  & CIO 

Article 1.  Establishment, Objectives, and Effective Date 

1.1 Establishment of Plan.  The State Board of Administration of Florida 
(“SBA”) establishes this incentive compensation plan to be known as the “State Board of 
Administration of Florida Incentive Compensation Plan for the Executive Director & 
CIO” (the “Plan”) on June 23, 2015.     

1.2 Objectives of the Plan.  The objectives of the Plan are to promote the 
financial success of the Florida Retirement System Trust Fund (the “Trust Fund”) by 
implementing a performance-based incentive plan that will align Participant rewards with 
stakeholder goals and interests, motivate and reward the Participant for the achievement 
of the Trust Fund’s  financial objectives and other SBA objectives and assist in attracting 
and retaining the Participant by increasing the SBA’s competitive position to be more 
comparable to the outside market.   

1.3 Effective Date.  The Plan is hereby effective as of July 1, 2015, and shall 
remain in effect, subject to amendment or termination as provided herein. 

Article 2.  Definitions 

Whenever used in the Plan, the following capitalized terms shall have the meanings set 
forth below: 

2.1 “Active Risk Compliance Exception” shall mean incurring active risk 
equal to or in excess of the Total Fund (primary benchmark) Trust Fund escalation 
standard as set forth in the Trust Fund IPS, SBA Policy 10-060 and SBA Policy 20-532, 
as amended from time to time, measured over the Performance Period.  

2.2 “Board” shall mean the Board of Trustees of SBA. 

2.3  “Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from 
time to time. 

2.4 “Deferred Award” shall mean the portion of an Incentive Award that is 
deferred and remains subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture until paid in accordance 
with Section 6.3. 

2.5 “Disabling Conduct” shall mean: 

(a) The Participant is convicted of a felony or has engaged in a dishonest act, 
misappropriation of funds, embezzlement, criminal conduct or common law fraud; or 

(b) The Participant has engaged in any willful act or violation of SBA Policy 



-2- 
 

that materially damages or materially prejudices the SBA or the Trust Fund or has 
engaged in conduct or activities materially damaging to the property, business or 
reputation of the SBA. 

2.6  “Disability” shall mean a Participant (a) is unable to fulfill the duties of 
the position of Executive Director & CIO by reason of any medically determinable 
physical or mental impairment which can be expected to result in death or can be 
expected to last for a continuous period of not less than 12 months, or (b) is, by reason of 
any medically determinable physical or mental impairment which can be expected to 
result in death or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than 12 
months, receiving income replacement benefits for a period of not less than three months 
under an accident and health plan covering employees of the Participant's employer.  The 
date of Disability shall be determined by the Board upon receipt of proof or evidence of 
Disability. 

2.7 “Effective Date” shall mean July 1, 2015. 

2.8 “Eligible Position” shall mean the Executive Director & CIO of the SBA. 

2.9 “Executive Director & CIO” shall mean a permanently appointed 
Executive Director & CIO of SBA.  For the avoidance of doubt, an Interim Executive 
Director & CIO shall not be entitled to be a Participant in this Plan. 

 

2.10  “Incentive Award” shall mean all or a portion of the Incentive 
Opportunity earned by and granted to the Participant based on the achievement of 
Organizational Financial Performance and, Individual Performance as determined in 
accordance with Article 6. 

2.11 “Incentive Opportunity” shall mean an incentive award opportunity 
granted to the Participant and contingent upon the achievement of designated 
Organizational Financial Performance and, potentially, Individual Performance and the 
Participant’s continued services to the SBA. 

2.12 “Individual Performance” shall mean performance that is measured by 
qualitative factors and/or individual financial or individual quantitative factors.  

2.13 “Organizational Financial Performance” shall mean performance that is 
measured by financial and quantitative performance and attributable to the SBA as an 
organization and which must include performance at or in excess of the Trust Fund Value 
Added Threshold (as defined herein) consistent with the conditions precedent set forth in 
Section 5.1 of this Plan.  

2.14 “Participant” shall mean an employee in the Eligible Position. 

2.15 “Payment Determination Date” shall mean the date on which the SBA’s 
independent external auditor or independent external consultant verifies the SBA’s 



-3- 
 

calculation of the portion of the Incentive Award attributable to Organizational Financial 
Performance and/or the portion of the Incentive Award attributable to Individual 
Performance.  The SBA’s calculation of Organizational Financial Performance shall be 
(A) based on the asset valuations presented in the Trust Fund’s financial statements 
presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP and audited by an independent and nationally 
recognized auditing firm in good standing and (B) supported by an annual letter from the 
officer of the Master Custodian who is responsible for the Master Custodian’s 
performance analytics affiliate or  unit (or successor performance analytics provider)  that 
reports the relevant performance metrics for the Performance Period.  For the avoidance 
of doubt, in any Plan Year, there could be different Payment Determination Dates for the 
portion of the Incentive Award attributable to Organizational Financial Performance and 
for the portion of the Incentive Award attributable to Individual Performance.  

2.16 “Performance Period” shall mean, for each Plan Year, (i) for determining 
Organizational Financial Performance, the most recent rolling three-year period for Trust 
Fund investment performance that begins on July 1 and ends on June 30; provided, 
however, for Plan Years ending 2016 and 2017, a shorter Performance Period will be the 
most recent one-year period and the most recent rolling two-year period, respectively, 
and (ii) for the Individual Performance, performance that begins on July 1 and ends on 
June 30 of every Plan Year, each subject to the provisions of Section 4.2 hereof; 
provided, however, in the event the Participant is newly hired from outside the SBA or 
promoted or transferred from within the SBA into the Eligible Position during a Plan 
Year, then the Performance Period for that Participant shall begin on the later of (A) the 
first day of the quarter following the date the Participant began employment in the 
Eligible Position and (B) the applicable dates in (i) and (ii) above. 

2.17 “Plan” shall mean this State Board of Administration of Florida Incentive 
Compensation Plan for the Executive Director & CIO, as it may be amended from time to 
time. 

2.18 ”Plan Year” shall mean the SBA’s fiscal year (i.e. July 1 – June 30). 

2.19 “Retirement Eligible” shall mean the Participant’s attainment of age 65.  

2.20 “Salary” shall mean the actual gross base salary of the Participant as of the 
later of the beginning date of the Plan Year or the beginning date of the Participant’s 
employment in the Eligible Position.  For the avoidance of doubt, Salary excludes all 
incentive, bonus, health insurance premiums, retirement contributions or other 
compensation and other payments and reimbursements made to or on behalf of the 
Participant by the SBA. 

2.21 “SBAA Trust Fund” shall mean the State Board of Administration 
Administrative Expense Trust Fund.  

2.22 “Trust Fund IPS” shall mean the Florida Retirement System Defined 
Benefit Investment Policy Statement approved by the Trustees from time to time, 
pursuant to section 215.475, Fla. Stat.  



-4- 
 

2.23 “Trust Fund Value Added Threshold” shall mean the investment 
performance of the Trust Fund, determined and calculated pursuant to SBA Policies 10-
062 and 20-511 and using final numbers and asset values derived from the Trust Fund’s 
annual financial statements that are audited by the SBA’s independent external auditors, 
that exceeds the return on the Trust Fund’s total fund benchmark, determined and 
calculated with reference to the Target Portfolio as defined and described in the Trust 
Fund IPS by 5 basis points.  

Article 3.  Administration 

3.1 Administrative Authority.  Except as limited by law or by governing 
statutes, investment policy statements or other policies applicable to the SBA and/or the 
Trust Fund, and subject to the provisions herein, the Board shall have full power to 
interpret and administer the Plan, including to: (a) approve the size of Incentive 
Opportunity, Organizational Financial Performance (and categories and weightings 
thereof and thereunder), Individual Performance (and categories and weightings thereof 
and thereunder), each as may be modified in the Appendix from time to time; and the 
specific Incentive Award attributable only to Individual Performance ; (b) determine the 
terms and conditions of Incentive Awards in a manner consistent with the Plan; (c) 
construe and interpret the Plan and any Incentive Award or any agreement or instrument 
entered into under the Plan; (d) establish, amend, or waive rules and regulations for the 
Plan’s administration and processes in a manner consistent with the Plan; and (e) amend 
the terms and conditions of any outstanding Incentive Award attributable solely to 
Individual Performance.     

3.2 Decisions Binding.  All determinations and decisions made by the Board 
pursuant to the provisions of the Plan and all related instructions and resolutions of the 
Board shall be final, conclusive, and binding on the Participant and his or her estate 
and beneficiaries. 

Article 4.  Eligibility and Participation 

4.1 Eligibility.  Except as provided in Section 4.2 below, the Participant shall 
be eligible to participate in the Plan if the Participant is employed in the Eligible Position 
on any day during the Plan Year. 

4.2 Mid-Cycle Hires and Promotions.  A Participant who begins employment 
in the Eligible Position during a Plan Year will be entitled to receive a portion of the 
Incentive Award pro-rated as follows: (i) if the Executive Director & CIO begins 
employment in the Eligible Position on or after July 1 but no later than October 1, then 
the Executive Director & CIO will become a Participant on October 1, and the 
Participant’s award opportunity will be prorated to 75% of the Incentive Opportunity for 
such Plan Year; (ii) if the Executive Director & CIO begins employment in the Eligible 
Position on or after October 1 but no later than January 1, then the Executive Director & 
CIO will become a Participant on January 1, and the Participant’s award opportunity will 
be prorated to 50% of the Incentive Opportunity for such Plan Year; (iii) if the Executive 
Director & CIO begins employment in the Eligible Position on or after January 1 but no 



-5- 
 

later than April 1, the Executive Director & CIO will become a Participant on April 1, 
and the Participant’s award opportunity will be prorated to 25% of the Incentive 
Opportunity for such Plan Year; (iv) if the Executive Director & CIO begins employment 
in the Eligible Position after April 1 of a Plan Year, he/she will not become a Participant  
until the beginning of the next Plan Year (assuming he or she is employed in the Eligible 
Position on July  1 of such next Plan Year); and (v) if the Participant leaves the Eligible 
Position during a Plan Year and begins employment with the SBA in a position not 
covered by this Plan, the Participant’s Incentive Opportunity for the partial Plan Year will 
be prorated based on the number of completed calendar quarters worked in the Eligible 
Position during that Plan Year.   For the avoidance of doubt, if the Participant was 
promoted from an SBA position that participates in any SBA incentive plan other than 
this Plan (the “Other Position”) into the Eligible Position, the Participant shall be entitled 
to participate in and receive any incentive award that may be granted to the Participant 
during the time he or she was employed by the SBA in the Other Position, in accordance 
with the terms of such other award.   

Article 5.  Incentive Opportunity 

5.1 Initial Trigger of Incentive Opportunity.  Notwithstanding any other 
provision of this Plan or any other component of Organizational Financial Performance 
or Individual Performance, the Participant will not be entitled to any Incentive Award  for 
a Plan Year unless the SBA during the Performance Period applicable to Organizational 
Financial Performance (i) meets or exceeds the Trust Fund Value Added Threshold and 
(ii) did not have an Active Risk Compliance Exception. 

5.2 Assignment of Incentive Opportunity.  The Eligible Position will be 
assigned an Incentive Opportunity expressed as a percentage of the Participant’s Salary 
for achieving Organizational Financial Performance and Individual Performance for the 
Performance Period.  Incentive Awards are capped at the maximum Incentive 
Opportunity.  A range will be established for both Organizational Financial Performance 
and Individual Performance from a threshold to target level and from target to a 
maximum level for outstanding performance, and performance levels for Organizational 
Financial Performance that fall between ranges will be interpolated, mathematically, with 
no discretion by the Board.  For the avoidance of doubt, as long as the conditions 
precedent in Section 5.1 are satisfied, the Incentive Award for Organizational Financial 
Performance will be calculated mathematically and will not be subject to the discretion or 
approval of the Board.  Performance (whether Organizational Financial Performance or 
Individual Performance) below the threshold will earn no incentive.  Performance 
(whether Organizational Financial Performance or Individual Performance) exceeding 
maximum level for each category thereunder will not earn additional Incentive Awards.   

5.3 Organizational Financial Performance and Individual Performance.  Prior 
to the start of the applicable Plan Year, the Board shall establish and set forth in an 
Appendix to the Plan for the upcoming Plan Year, as may be revised from time to time, 
which Appendix shall be  attached hereto and incorporated by reference herein, the 
Organizational Financial Performance, the Individual Performance and certain 
established categories thereof, and the weightings of each of the Organizational Financial 



-6- 
 

Performance, Individual Performance and any established categories thereunder.  In the 
event the Board does not establish or revise the Appendix prior to the start of the Plan 
Year, the then effective Appendix shall be deemed to be re-established and re-adopted for 
the upcoming Plan Year.   

5.4 No Adjustments.  Once established, Organizational Financial 
Performance, Individual Performance, the established categories thereunder and their 
respective weightings shall remain in effect for the applicable Plan Year, except as 
provided in Section 4.2.  For the avoidance of doubt, if any measure under Organizational 
Financial Performance, Individual Performance or any established category thereunder is 
established as a benchmark for a Plan Year, then the measure shall be based on the asset 
benchmarks set forth in the Trust Fund IPS for each such relevant time period.  

Article 6.  Determination and Payment of Incentive Awards 

6.1 Value of Incentive Awards.  Subject to the terms and conditions of the 
Plan, the value of the Participant’s Incentive Award is based upon (i) the achievement of 
the Organizational Financial Performance as calculated in Section 5.2 hereof, and (ii) the 
Board’s determination of the Individual Performance based upon the criteria in the 
Appendix.  Actual payment of any Incentive Award is contingent upon the Participant’s 
continued employment with the SBA through the date such Incentive Award is paid, 
except as provided in Article 7.  Except as provided in Article 7, a Participant whose 
employment terminates before such payment date will not be entitled to an Incentive 
Award. 

6.2 Entitlement; Approval and Payment. The Participant shall be entitled to 
receive that portion of the Incentive Award that is attributable to Organizational Financial 
Performance as set forth in Section 5.2 hereof.  The Board shall determine and approve 
the portion of the Incentive Award attributable to Individual Performance for the 
Participant.  Incentive Awards (consisting of Organizational Financial Performance and 
the Individual Performance determined and approved by the Board) shall be paid as 
follows, except as otherwise set forth below:  50% of the Incentive Award will be paid to 
the Participant in a lump sum as soon as practicable following the Payment 
Determination Date, but in no event later than December 31 of that calendar year (the 
“Lump Sum”), and  50% of the Incentive Award will be treated as a “Deferred Award” 
subject to the terms of Section 6.3.  For the avoidance of doubt, if the Board does not 
make a determination and approve the portion of the Incentive Award attributable to 
Individual Performance, such inaction shall not have any effect on the Payment 
Determination Date for the portion of the Incentive Award attributable to Organizational 
Financial Performance, subject to Section 7.3; provided, however, no Lump Sum 
payment attributable to Individual Performance shall be made after December 31 of such 
calendar year. 

In the event the Trust Fund has a negative return on an absolute basis for the final 
Fiscal Year of any Performance Period, then the Lump Sum payment for the Plan Year 
shall be deferred (“Delayed Lump Sum”), and credited to a Deferred Award Account as 
provided in Section 6.3 hereof.  The Participant shall not be entitled to receive the 



-7- 
 

Delayed Lump Sum payment unless and until the SBA’s Performance Analytics unit, 
using reconciled monthly returns provided by the SBA’s Master Custodian performance 
analytics affiliate or unit (or successor performance analytics provider), certifies that  the 
Trust Fund earned two (2) consecutive quarters of positive returns on an absolute basis.  
(the “Positive Return Period”).    Upon the certification of  the Positive Return Period, the 
SBA shall pay to the Participant the Delayed Lump Sum as soon as practicable but on or 
before the later of the following dates (such later date collectively referred to as, the 
“Short-Term Deferred Date”): (i) the 15th day of the third (3rd) month following the end 
of the Participant’s taxable year which contains the last day of the Positive Return Period 
or (ii) the 15th  day of the third (3rd) month following the end of the  Plan Year which 
contains the last day of the Positive Return Period. 

6.3 Deferred Awards and Other Provisions. 

(a) Deferred Awards will be credited to a hypothetical account (“Deferred 
Award Account”) on the SBAA Trust Fund’s books in the Participant’s name as of the 
date that the corresponding Lump Sum is paid to the Participant.  A separate Deferred 
Award Account (or sub-account thereof) will be established with respect to each 
Performance Period for which an Incentive Award is calculated.  No amounts will be set 
aside in trust or otherwise removed from the reach of the SBA and the SBAA Trust 
Fund’s creditors.  Participants will be unsecured creditors of the SBA with respect to 
such amounts (and any earnings on those amounts) until actually paid.   

(b) The Deferred Award Accounts will be credited monthly as of the last day 
of each month with an amount equal to total return otherwise earned by the SBAA Trust 
Fund for such Performance Period.  The Deferred Award Account balance will earn the 
same return as the other funds in the SBAA Trust Fund and consistent with the 
investment guidelines for the SBAA Trust Fund.  The Board may in its discretion 
determine an alternate return measure for Deferred Award Account balances effective for 
future Plan Years.  

(c) The Deferred Award credited to the Participant as of the first anniversary 
of the Payment Determination Date on which the Deferred Award  was earned, plus any 
unpaid earnings thereon, will be paid in a lump sum to the Participant as soon as 
practicable following such first anniversary date, but in no event later than December 31 
of that calendar year; provided, however, that the Participant must be employed by the 
SBA at the time such award is paid.   

(d) In the event the Trust Fund has a negative return on an absolute basis for 
any Fiscal Year immediately preceding the date on which a Deferred Award otherwise 
would be payable, then the payment of any amounts in the Deferred Award Account shall 
continue to be deferred (“Delayed Deferred Award”), and the Participant shall not be 
entitled to receive, the Delayed Deferred Award unless and until the Trust Fund has a 
Positive Return Period that is certified for the Trust Fund in accordance with Section 6.2.  
Upon the certification of such Positive Return Period, the SBA shall pay to the 
Participant the Delayed Deferred Award (and any earnings thereon) as soon as 
practicable but on or before the later of the following dates: (i) the first anniversary of the 



-8- 
 

last day of the applicable Plan Year or (ii) Short-Term Deferred Date. 

(e)   Participants forfeit all Delayed Lump Sums, Delayed Deferred Awards 
and Deferred Award Accounts upon termination of employment with SBA for any 
reason, other than for death or Disability.  In the case of termination upon death or 
Disability the balance of the Participant’s Delayed Lump Sums, Deferred Awards and 
Delayed Deferred Awards shall be paid to the Participant (or in the event of death, his or 
her estate) as soon as practicable following the date of such termination event (i.e. the 
date of death or Disability), but in no event later than December 31 of the calendar year 
containing that date. 

6.4 One-Time Vesting and Payment Upon Becoming Retirement Eligible.  
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary and subject to Section 7.3, upon the date the 
Participant becomes Retirement Eligible (the “Retirement Eligible Date”) while 
employed in the Eligible Position and regardless of whether the Participant actually 
retires, the balance of the Participant’s Delayed Lump Sums, Deferred Awards and 
Delayed Deferred Awards shall be paid to the Participant as soon as practicable following 
the Retirement Eligible Date, but in no event later than December 31 of the calendar year 
containing that date.  For the avoidance of doubt, the accelerated vesting and payment 
provided under this Section 6.4 shall only apply, if at all, to the Participant one time and 
does not apply if the Participant is or becomes Retirement Eligible prior to, or during, his 
or her first Plan Year of participation in the Plan. 

Article 7.  Termination of Employment 

7.1 Termination of Employment Due to Death or Disability.  In the event that 
a Participant terminates employment due to death or Disability, the Participant (or, in the 
event of death, the Participant’s estate) shall be entitled to the payout of the Incentive 
Award for the Plan Year in which termination occurred based on the SBA’s  achievement 
of Organizational Financial Performance for such Plan Year. Any earned Incentive 
Award shall be calculated prorata based upon the Participant’s Salary paid for time 
worked during the Plan Year on a daily basis through the date of such termination event.  
Notwithstanding any negative return delay in Section 6.2 to the contrary, the Participant 
(or, in the event of death, the Participant’s estate) shall be entitled to payment of the 
entire pro-rata portion of any earned Incentive Award (i.e. the Deferred Award portion) 
as soon as practicable following the applicable Payment Determination Date for such 
Plan Year, but in no event later than December 31 of the calendar year in which such 
termination event occurs.   

7.2 Termination of Employment for Other Reasons and Other Conditions.  
The payment of an Incentive Award (whether Lump Sum, Delayed Lump Sum, Deferred 
Award or Delayed Deferred Award) is conditioned on the Participant being in continuous 
employment with SBA from the grant date of the Incentive Opportunity through the date 
of payment for that Incentive Award.  In the event that a Participant incurs a termination 
of employment from SBA for any reason other than death or Disability the Participant’s 
participation shall immediately end and no unpaid Incentive Award for any Plan Year 
shall be payable to the Participant. 



-9- 
 

7.3 Forfeiture upon Disabling Conduct.  Notwithstanding anything to the 
contrary, if the Participant is terminated for Disabling Conduct from the SBA prior to 
payment of any and all Incentive Awards, including Lump Sums, Delayed Lump Sums, 
Deferred Awards, and Delayed Deferred Awards, the Participant will immediately and 
automatically, without any action on the part of the Participant or the SBA, forfeit his or 
her right to the payment of such awards.   

Article 8.  Rights of Employees 

8.1 Employment. Nothing in the Plan shall interfere with or limit in any way 
the right of the Board to terminate the Participant’s employment at any time, nor confer 
upon the Participant any right to continue in the employ of SBA.   

8.2 Participation. The Participant shall not have the right to be selected to 
participate, or, having been so selected, to receive a future Incentive Award.  Neither the 
Participant nor his or her beneficiaries shall have any right to receive a distribution under 
the Plan except in accordance with the terms of the Plan. 

8.3 Nontransferability.  No interest of any person in an Incentive Award, or 
right to receive a distribution under the Plan, shall be subject in any manner to sale, 
transfer, assignment, pledge, attachment, garnishment, or other alienation or 
encumbrance of any kind; nor may such interest or right to receive a distribution be 
taken, either voluntarily or involuntarily for the satisfaction of the debts of, or other 
obligations or claims against, such person. 

Article 9.  Amendment, Modification, and Termination 

The Board may at any time terminate, amend, modify, or suspend this Plan.  However, 
following the end of a Plan Year in which there was an Incentive Award, no such termination, 
amendment, modification, or suspension of the Plan shall adversely affect in any material way 
the payment of the Incentive Award or any portion thereof without the consent of the Participant 
entitled to payment of the Incentive Award.   

Article 10.  Legal Status 

10.1 Compliance with Code Section 409A.  It is intended that this Plan and the 
Incentive Awards paid under this Plan shall be exempt from Code section 409A pursuant 
to the “short-term deferral” exemption under Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(b)(4) 
(the “Short-Term Deferral Exemption”).  All Incentive Awards are paid in the calendar 
year in which such awards are vested and, accordingly, the Incentive Awards do not 
constitute deferred compensation and fall outside the scope of Code section 409A.  
Further, in the case of a Delayed Lump Sum, Deferred Award, or Delayed Deferred 
Award, such amount remains continuously subject to a “substantial risk of forfeiture” at 
all times from the beginning of the applicable Performance Period through the last day of 
the additional deferral period, as described in Section 6.2 or 6.3, as applicable.  As a 
result, each amount also is paid shortly following the date in which such award vests and 
falls outside the scope of Code section 409A in accordance with the Short-Term Deferral 
Exemption. 



-10- 
 

10.2 Compliance with Code Section 457(f).  In the case of a Deferred Award, 
until the lapse of the additional deferral periods and payment of the Deferred Award 
Account in accordance with Section 6.3, such Deferred Award Account remains 
continuously subject to a “substantial risk of forfeiture” at all times from the beginning of 
the Plan Year through the applicable payment date and is not subject to income inclusion 
under Code section 457(f). 

10.3 Compliance with ERISA.  The Plan constitutes a governmental plan 
within the meaning of Section 3(32) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 
1974, as amended (“ERISA”) as well as a “bonus program” in accordance with 
Department of Labor Regulation Section 2510.3-2(c) that does not constitute an 
“employee pension benefit plan” and, therefore, the Plan is not subject to the ERISA. 

10.4 Administrative Compliance.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this 
Plan, this Plan shall be interpreted, operated and administered in a manner consistent with 
the intentions set forth above in Sections 10.1, 10.2, and 10.3. 

Article 11.  Funding 

The amounts under this Plan shall be paid from the general assets of the SBA and the 
SBAA Trust Fund, and the Participant shall have no right, title, or interest in or to investments, if 
any, which SBA or the SBAA Trust Fund may make to assist it in meeting its obligations under 
this Plan. Nothing contained in this Plan, and no action taken pursuant to its provisions, shall 
create or be construed to create a fiduciary relationship between SBA, the SBAA Trust Fund and 
the Participant or any other person.  To the extent that any person acquires a right to receive a 
payment from SBA or the SBAA Trust Fund under this Plan, such right shall be no greater than 
the right of an unsecured creditor. 

Article 12.  Withholding 

SBA shall have the power and the right to deduct, withhold, or require a Participant to 
remit to SBA an amount sufficient to satisfy federal, state, and local taxes, domestic or foreign, 
required by law or regulation to be withheld with respect to any taxable event arising as a result 
of this Plan. 

Article 13.  Successors 

All obligations of SBA under the Plan with respect to Incentive Awards granted 
hereunder shall be binding on any successor to SBA, whether the existence of such successor is 
the result of a direct or indirect purchase, merger, consolidation, or otherwise, of all or 
substantially all of the operations and/or assets of SBA. 

Article 14.  Legal Construction 

14.1 Gender and Number.  Except where otherwise indicated by the context, 
any masculine term used herein also shall include the feminine; the plural shall include 
the singular and the singular shall include the plural. 



-11- 
 

14.2 Severability.  In the event any provision of the Plan shall be held illegal or 
invalid for any reason, the illegality or invalidity shall not affect the remaining parts of 
the Plan, and the Plan shall be construed and enforced as if the illegal or invalid provision 
had not been included. 

14.3 Requirements of Law.  The payments of Incentive Awards and Deferred 
Award Accounts under the Plan shall be subject to all applicable laws, rules, and 
regulations, and to such approvals by any governmental agencies or national securities 
exchanges as may be required. 

14.4 Governing Law.  The Plan and all agreements hereunder shall be 
construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of Florida. 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, State Board of Administration of Florida has approved and 
adopted this State Board of Administration of Florida Incentive Compensation Plan for the 
Executive Director & CIO at a public meeting of the Board on this 5th day of August, 2015.    
 
STATE BOARD OF ADMINISTRATION OF FLORIDA 
 
 
 
     By: ________________________ 
  Rick Scott 
Dated:  __________ Governor as Chairman 
 
 
 By: ________________________ 
  Jeff Atwater 
Dated:  __________ Chief Financial Officer  
 
 
 By: ________________________ 
  Pam Bondi 
Dated:  __________ Attorney General  
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX TO 
 

STATE BOARD OF ADMINISTRATION 
OF FLORIDA 

 
INCENTIVE COMPENSATION PLAN 

 
FOR THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR & CIO 

 
 

(EFFECTIVE AS OF JULY 1, 2015) 
  



 As used in this Appendix: 

 (i)    “Maximum” shall mean 50 basis points of Value Added (as defined below).  

(ii)   “Target” shall mean 25 basis points of Value Added.  

 (iii)  “Threshold” shall mean 5 basis points of Value Added.  

 (iv)  “Value Added” shall mean the extent, in basis points, that investment performance 
of the Trust Fund, determined and calculated pursuant to SBA Policies 10-062 and 20-511 and 
using final numbers and asset values derived from the Trust Fund’s annual financial statements 
that are audited by the SBA’s independent external auditors, exceeds the return on the Trust 
Fund’s total fund benchmark, determined and calculated with reference to the Target Portfolio 
described in Trust Fund IPS.  

 As set forth in Articles 5 and 6 of the Plan, the Incentive Opportunity shall be as follows: 

Incentive as a % of Salary 

 Mix Threshold Target Maximum  
Total      
Incentive Opportunity 100% 17.500% 35.000% 52.500%  
 
Organization Financial  

     

       Performance 85% 14.875% 29.750% 44.625%  
 
Individual Performance 

 
15% 

 
Up to 2.625% 

 
Up to 5.250% 

 
Up to 7.875% 

 

 

As set forth in Articles 5 and 6 of the Plan, the Incentive Opportunity shall be adjusted for 
instances where Value Added exceeds the Threshold but otherwise falls between the ranges set 
forth above.  In those instances, the Incentive Opportunity as a percentage of Salary shall be 
interpolated mathematically in accordance with the attached table.  For the avoidance of doubt, 
in no instance shall the Incentive Opportunity as a percentage of Salary exceed the Maximum.   

  



Organizational Financial Performance 

 The Organizational Financial Performance for the Executive Director & CIO will be 
measured by the Value Added.  There is no Incentive Opportunity for Organizational Financial 
Performance unless Value Added exceeds Threshold (as described in Section 5.1 of the Plan).  
The targeted level of Incentive Opportunity for Organizational Financial Performance for the 
Executive Director & CIO is Target.  The Incentive Opportunity for Organizational Financial 
Performance is capped at Maximum, and there is no Incentive Opportunity for Value Added that 
exceeds Maximum.   

As indicated in the above chart, Organizational Financial Performance shall constitute 
85% of the Incentive Opportunity, as adjusted for instances where Value Added exceeds 
Threshold but otherwise fall within the ranges set forth above.   

Individual Performance 

 Individual Performance shall be determined based on the following categories to be 
equally weighted, and the Board, in its discretion, may consider recommendations from the IAC 
that bear on the Participant’s performance in these categories: 

• Overall mission 
• People 
• Efficiencies/Infrastructure/Operations 
• Interactions with the IAC, Participant Local Government Advisory Council and Audit 

Committee 

In determining that portion of the Incentive Award attributable to Individual 
Performance, the maximum amount that may be awarded and approved is that percentage (up to 
15% of the Incentive Opportunity – i.e. 7.875% of Salary) that corresponds to the Threshold, 
Target or Maximum amounts used to calculate Organizational Financial Performance (e.g. see 
chart above) but also including in such capped amount any interpolation therein in the event 
Organizational Financial Performance falls between ranges as contemplated by Section 5.2 of the 
Plan.  [For example, if the 15 bps of value was added to the total fund benchmark for the Trust 
Fund (i.e. between the Threshold and the Target), the maximum of the portion of the Incentive 
Award attributable to Individual Performance would be 3.9375% of Salary]. 

  



Interpolation Table: 

 

Value Added Defined Interpolated
(bps) % of Salary % of Salary

Threshold 5 17.50% 17.5%
6 18.4%
7 19.3%
8 20.1%
9 21.0%

10 21.9%
11 22.8%
12 23.6%
13 24.5%
14 25.4%
15 26.3%
16 27.1%
17 28.0%
18 28.9%
19 29.8%
20 30.6%
21 31.5%
22 32.4%
23 33.3%
24 34.1%

Target 25 35.00% 35.0%
26 35.7%
27 36.4%
28 37.1%
29 37.8%
30 38.5%
31 39.2%
32 39.9%
33 40.6%
34 41.3%
35 42.0%
36 42.7%
37 43.4%
38 44.1%
39 44.8%
40 45.5%
41 46.2%
42 46.9%
43 47.6%
44 48.3%
45 49.0%
46 49.7%
47 50.4%
48 51.1%
49 51.8%

Max 50 52.50% 52.5%
Above 50 52.5%


	Agenda 8-5-15
	Attach 1A Transcript 2015-0623
	Attach 2A Florida Forever 2015 Ref TBD Fiscal Sufficiency
	Attach 3A Lottery 2015 Ref TBD Fiscal Sufficiency 
	Attach 4A Brookside Square Apartments Fiscal Determination
	Attach 5A Stevens Duval Apartments Fiscal Determination
	Attach 6A Memo for Agenda Item 6 for August 5 2015 Cabinet Meeting
	SBA Incentive Compensation Plan for the Executive Director & CIO - Effective 7/1/2015
	Appendix to SBA Incentive Compensation Plan

